
Special Children and Young People's Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date Wednesday 2 December 2015
Time 11.30 am
Venue Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. Members 
of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's agreement.

1. Apologies for Absence  
2. Substitute Members  
3. Declarations of Interest, if any  
4. Welfare Reform and Poverty Issues  (Pages 1 - 16)

a) Report of Assistant Chief Executive 

b) Presentation by Roger Goodes, Head of Policy and 
Communications

5. Young Carers  (Pages 17 - 20)
a) Joint Report of Assistant Chief Executive & Corporate Director of 

Children & Adult Services

b) Presentation by Gill Palin, Strategic Manager Secure Services 
Development , Children and Adult Services

6. Educational Attainment  (Pages 21 - 26)
a) Joint Report of Assistant Chief Executive and Corporate Director 

Children & Adult Services

b) Presentation by Phil Hodgson, Strategic Manager Support and 
Development, Children and Adult Services



7. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, is of 
sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Colette Longbottom
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

  County Hall
  Durham
  24 November 2015

To: The Members of the Children and Young People's Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Councillor C Potts (Chairman)
Councillor M Nicholls (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors J Armstrong, D Bell, K Corrigan, K Dearden, O Gunn, D Hall, 
C Hampson, J Hart, D Hicks, K Hopper, P Lawton, J Measor, S Morrison, 
L Pounder, M Simmons, H Smith, M Stanton, P Stradling and W Stelling

Faith Communities Representatives: 
Mrs G Harrison

Parent Governor Representatives: 
Mr R Patel

Co-opted Members: 
Mr K Gilfillan and Mr D Kinch

Contact: Jackie Graham Tel: 03000 269704



Children & Young People’s 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

2 December 2015

Welfare Reform & Poverty Issues

Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Assistant Chief Executive

Purpose of the Report

1. To provide members of the Children and Young People’s Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee with background information concerning the consultation 
on the draft County Durham poverty action plan attached as Appendix 2 which 
includes a number of activities relating to Child Poverty.

2. As part of the quarterly performance monitoring the committee receives 
information on child poverty in County Durham and members have expressed 
concern in relation to child poverty.

Context

3. Due to the scale of welfare reform and its potential impact on families and 
communities in the county, regular updates on policy implications and their 
impacts have been prepared for Members and shared with partners.

4. Durham County Council (DCC) Members received at the Cabinet meeting on 
the 21 October, 2015 an update on the government’s welfare reform 
programme and related policies affecting residents in the county together with 
a draft County Durham poverty action plan which builds a more 
comprehensive response to the changes to welfare and the wider poverty 
issues within the county.  

5. Arrangements have been made for the Head of Policy and Communications 
to attend committee on the 2 December, 2015 to provide Members with an 
overview of the draft County Durham poverty action plan.  The presentation 
will focus on:

 Background and current position re welfare reform and poverty

 Actions to date

 The way forward



Draft Poverty Action Plan

6. It is difficult to distinguish between changes resulting from welfare reform, 
economic trends associated with recession and recovery and underlying 
issues including poverty.  For this reason, the Council agreed to widen the 
response to welfare reform led by Lorraine O’Donnell, Assistant Chief 
Executive, to include addressing those aspects of poverty that can be tackled 
locally.  A poverty action plan has been developed and a draft is attached.  
This includes proposed actions to:

a) raise awareness of poverty within the Council and amongst our partners;

b) get our services and partners to understand poverty and how we can all 
work together to help address it;

c) establish ways of monitoring how people are affected by poverty; what 
other issues result from poverty; and what gaps in support exist that can 
be addressed within the resources available;

d) focus closely on child poverty, issues surrounding credit and debt, fuel 
poverty, the impact of further changes to welfare and benefits, and 
initiatives to help people work.

7. In order to focus on the actions necessary to respond to the challenges facing 
the county’s residents, the draft poverty action plan has been developed on 
five  key theme:

a) attitudes to poverty and raising its profile; 
b) focus on child poverty;
c) credit and debt; 
d) further welfare reform and benefit changes; 
e) work and personal wellbeing and sense of worth.

8. At the Cabinet meeting on the 21st October it was agreed to consult upon the 
draft poverty action plan with a range of stakeholders.

9. The consultation taking place with partners provides an opportunity to 
comment and contributes to the further development of the plan. This will be 
fundamental to the successful delivery of the action plan and achieving better 
outcomes for the residents of County Durham.

10.The Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
members will have an opportunity at the meeting on the 2 December to 
provide comments and feedback on the draft poverty action plan.



Recommendations 

11.The Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 
recommended to note and comment on the contents of the presentation and 
draft poverty action plan.

Background papers:

Cabinet, 21 October 2015 – Welfare Reform and Poverty Issues

Contact: Roger Goodes Tel: 03000 268050



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Finance – There are no additional costs identified within the plan.   All actions will be 
met within existing resources.

Staffing – There are no new staffing implications contained within the action plan

Risk – N/A

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – The actions will be subject 
to equality impact assessments where appropriate.

Accommodation – N/A

Crime and Disorder – N/A

Human Rights – N/A

Consultation – The draft County Durham Poverty Action Plan will be subject to 
consultation with a range of organisations and groups, including elected Members, 
the County Durham Partnership, AAP’s, town and parish councils and voluntary 
groups.

Procurement – N/A

Disability Issues – N/A

Legal Implications – N/A



Appendix 2

Poverty Action Plan for County Durham

Vision

To work together to reduce and prevent poverty as far as possible across County Durham. 

Objectives

 To raise awareness of poverty within the council and amongst our partners.
 Ensure our services and partners understand poverty and how we can all work together to help address it.
 Identify practical solutions which the council and partners can implement to help reduce and prevent poverty.

Actions identified will be co-ordinated under five themes:

 Attitudes to poverty and raising its profile through partnership with agencies and individuals with direct involvement in poverty.
 Focus on child poverty.
 Credit and debt.
 Further welfare reform and benefit changes.
 Work, increasing employability, personal wellbeing and sense of worth. 



Poverty Action Plan
Attitudes to poverty and raising its profile through partnership with agencies and 
individuals with direct involvement in poverty
Goal How will we do this (Actions) Timeframe Lead
Ensure staff 
providing frontline 
services 
understand poverty 
and how it affects 
communities and 
families within 
County Durham

Raise awareness amongst council frontline staff on the issues surrounding 
poverty through existing training programmes, to include information to help 
staff understand levels of poverty and the impact this is having on residents.  
Include in this training information on how staff can signpost residents in need of 
support to services and appropriate organisations January 2016 Head of Policy & 

Communications 

Bring together in one place information about the support available to low 
income families and ensure that all staff are made aware of this January 2016 Head of Policy & 

Communications

Make information 
easily available for 
frontline staff to 
help residents 
affected by poverty Review how people currently get information and the different places they can 

find it, for example websites including LOCATE, leaflets and other means of 
making information available.  Rationalise information where necessary to 
simplify how the information can be accessed

March 2016 Head of Policy & 
Communications 

Establish processes to collect feedback from council frontline services and 
partners to understand how changes to poverty and welfare are affecting 
residents and to identify new issues affecting residents 

March 2016 Head of Policy & 
Communications 

Establish a framework that includes agreed indicators of poverty and definitions 
of poverty.  The framework will include information on Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP), including benefit sanctions and delays March 2016 Head of Policy & 

Communications 

Understand poverty 
and how it affects 
communities and 
families within 
County Durham

This framework will be monitored regularly and results reported through the 
Poverty Action Steering Group Ongoing Head of Policy & 

Communications



Poverty Action Plan
Attitudes to poverty and raising its profile through partnership with agencies and 
individuals with direct involvement in poverty

Goal How will we do this (Actions) Timeframe Lead
Put in place methods for two-way communication both within and outside of the 
council to include all partners that would be able to support work to identify gaps 
and possible solutions March 2016 Head of Policy & 

Communications 

Arrange a conference on poverty, building on previous conferences on welfare 
reform, which will showcase how organisations are addressing issues and 
encourage discussion on what gaps currently exist in responding to poverty

March 2016 Head of Policy & 
Communications 

All partners working 
collectively and 
thinking about how 
their work can help 
address the issues 
associated with 
poverty

Work with DWP to establish a social justice programme across the County; to 
better understand the sanction regime; to ultimately work together to reduce the 
frequency and impact of benefit sanctions and delays

March 2016 Head of Policy & 
Communications 

Establish the Advice in County Durham Partnership (ACDP) September 
2015
(completed)

Head of Financial Services

Identify role of ACDP in helping to address issues arising from poverty and 
establish a series of actions to maximise the resources available to provide 
residents with support.  Actions to be captured and monitored in the County 
Durham Poverty Action Plan

March 2016 Head of Financial Services

Review, in consultation with partners, the effectiveness of the County Durham 
Poverty Action Plan and update this as necessary March 2016 Head of Policy & 

Communications

Ensure we have 
captured all of the 
actions identified to 
help address 
poverty and 
monitor 
implementation and 
effectiveness

Responsibility for monitoring implementation of the actions will sit with the 
Poverty Action Steering Group Ongoing Assistant Chief Executive



Poverty Action Plan
Focus on child poverty
Goal How will we do this (Actions) Timeframe Lead

Develop an understanding of how poverty is affecting children within County 
Durham.  This will be done through engagement with existing forums and 
organisations including:

 Schools; Durham Schools Forum, Durham Association of Primary 
Headteachers and Durham Association of Secondary Headteachers

 Youth organisations 

January 2016 Assistant Chief Executive

Understand the impact our fees and charges policy has on young people from 
low income families January 2016 Head of Financial Services

In response to the issues identified we will:

 Undertake a review of the Council’s existing key strategies and policies to 
identify how they address child poverty

 When updating key strategies and plans ensure they include actions to 
address child poverty

 Establish a process to ensure all new strategies and policies address child 
poverty, where appropriate

 Review the way we work with families who come to us through the children’s 
service single assessment process to ensure they’re given appropriate 
support into benefits and housing services

March 2016 Consultant in Public 
Health/Medicine

Ensure that poverty 
does not prevent 
young people from 
achieving their 
potential

Ensure the Poverty Action Steering Group is updated each term on the 
numbers of children receiving free thirty-hour early years places through the 
Early Years Strategy Ongoing Lead Childcare Development 



Poverty Action Plan
Focus on child poverty

Goal How will we do this (Actions) Timeframe Lead
Resource initiatives aimed at preventing poverty and supporting children 
affected by utilising the pupil premium funding within schools.  To facilitate this 
we will:

 Arrange a conference specifically to target the use of pupil premium funding 
to combat the impact of poverty with 50 schools attending

 Ensure half of those attending commit to develop projects in their area that 
will tackle poverty.

 Share learning by reporting back findings on an online community (with 
findings published more widely) or a follow-up marketplace event, to which a 
range of schools and settings would be invited

December 
2015 Strategic Manager

Poverty Action Plan
Credit and debt
Goal How will we do this (Actions) Timeframe Lead

Review the information we have on the range of financial support and advice 
currently available to understand how effective this is.   Use the findings to 
improve the information and advice available, working with the Advice in County 
Durham Partnership, credit unions and other organisations 

March 2016 Head of Financial Services

Residents have the 
best support and 
advice available 
concerning their 
financial situation

Build on the existing triage process already established for welfare reform to 
extend to all appropriate frontline services and partners to ensure residents are 
provided with advice and support which helps address the underlying issues

December 
2016

Housing, Project & Service 
Improvement Manager



Goal How will we do this (Actions) Timeframe Lead
Increase Family Learning programmes in tackling poverty, particularly Family 
Literacy, Language and Numeracy programmes to raise the basic skills of 
parents/carers.  Target programmes in areas of high deprivation July 2016 Strategic Manager 

Progression and Learning

Poverty Action Plan
Credit and debt
Goal How will we do this (Actions) Timeframe Lead

Ensure future commissions for Community Learning provision include anti-
poverty measures October 2016 Strategic Manager 

Progression and Learning

As part of the annual budget setting process review the DCC Local Council Tax 
Support Scheme with the aim of maintaining the scheme, recognising this has 
been a key part of our support for people experiencing poverty since 2013  

October 2015 
onwards Head of Financial Services

The Council to 
continues to 
provide financial 
support for 
residents affected 
where it can

Extend the existing loans scheme offered by the Housing Solutions Service 
through the Financial Assistance Policy October 2015 Housing Solutions Manager

Working with four schools, establish ‘financial literacy champions’ in each.  The 
plan will be to reach at least four schools per year to raise financial awareness 
and promote a savings culture

March 2016 
onwards Strategic Manager

Promote financial 
awareness in 
young people

Ensure participants on the Youth Employment Initiative ‘DurhamWorks’ (approx. 
5,000 unemployed young people) are supported to develop their financial 
management skills

Ongoing until 
July 2018

Strategic Manager 
Progression and Learning

Continue to introduce and review activities to target illegal money lending, 
working with Trading Standards Ongoing Economic Development 

Manager

Continue to reduce the influence and impact of payday and doorstep lenders 
and weekly payment stores by linking into advice and credit union opportunities Ongoing Economic Development 

Manager

Raise awareness 
of the dangers of 
using pay day and 
doorstep lenders 
and promote 
alternative means 
of support Continue to raise the profile of credit unions 

Ongoing Economic Development 
Manager



Goal How will we do this (Actions) Timeframe Lead
Promote salary deduction schemes for credit unions to employers across 
County Durham  Ongoing Economic Development 

Manager

Poverty Action Plan
Credit and debt
Goal How will we do this (Actions) Timeframe Lead

Establish a working group to coordinate energy conservation and affordable 
warmth programmes across County Durham and ensure energy conservation 
activities are at the heart of all services we deliver

April 2015
completed

Housing Regeneration 
Manager

Update the countywide Affordable Warmth Action Plan Review 
annually Housing Solutions Manager

Maintain a 
strategic 
partnership to co-
ordinate delivery of 
affordable warmth 
and energy 
efficiency 
programmes in 
County Durham

Review and monitor implementation of the Home Energy Conservation Act 
Report to ensure actions are addressing poverty issues Review 

annually Housing Solutions Manager

Through the DCC Housing Regeneration Team provide a countywide one stop 
shop relating to ECO and Warm up North October 2015 Housing Regeneration 

Manager
Promote the support that is available to private households from the Home 
Improvement Agency Ongoing Private Sector Housing 

Manager

Provide an energy 
efficiency advice 
and signposting 
service

Hold briefing sessions with organisations that work face-to-face with vulnerable 
members of the community Ongoing Housing Regeneration 

Manager
Seek to maximise the uptake of all national energy efficiency and fuel poverty 
grant schemes utilising DCC’s Warm Homes Campaign to co-ordinate a 
countywide area based delivery programme Ongoing Housing Regeneration 

Manager

Distribute affordable warmth information to residents through the Warm Homes 
Campaign newsletter which is delivered to community venues, AAPs and 
Members

Ongoing Housing Regeneration 
Manager

Maximise the 
uptake of energy 
efficiency 
improvement 
programmes 

Get more people to apply to the energy conservation programmes by carrying 
out area-based promotions Review 

annually
Housing Regeneration 
Manager 



Goal How will we do this (Actions) Timeframe Lead
Promote Energy Company Obligation Grant information in Council Tax 
communication Review 

annually
Housing Regeneration 
Manager 

Poverty Action Plan
Credit and debt
Goal How will we do this (Actions) Timeframe Lead

Work with registered  providers to ensure that any improvements to their 
housing include energy efficiency measures Ongoing Housing Regeneration 

Manager

Continue to maintain a countywide housing energy database to co-ordinate all  
relevant energy data Ongoing Housing Regeneration 

Manager

Establish energy targets for priority housing areas identified via the housing 
strategy March 2016 Housing Regeneration 

Manager

Maintain a 
countywide 
housing energy 
database to target 
and report on fuel 
poverty, energy 
efficiency and 
carbon reduction 
programmes

Monitor achievement of targets and success of programmes and report through 
to Poverty Action Steering Group Ongoing Housing Solutions Manager

Train frontline staff including social workers, health workers and housing to 
understand the signs of fuel poverty and be able to refer residents for further 
help and advice, particularly where acute conditions are experienced e.g. cold 
damp homes

January 2016 Consultant in Public 
Health/Medicine 

Enable the Council 
and partners to 
respond effectively 
when residents are 
affected by fuel 
poverty Work with partners to ensure they are aware of signs of fuel poverty and can 

refer residents for further help and advice
January 2016 Consultant in Public 

Health/Medicine 

Poverty Action Plan
Further welfare reform and benefit changes



Goal How will we do this (Actions) Timeframe Lead
Continue to develop the relationship with the Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP) both strategically and operationally Ongoing Assistant Chief Executive

Through the Poverty Action Steering Group (PASG) manage how the council 
responds to the implementation of Universal Credit, including the 
establishment of the Universal Support local support framework, joint working 
with housing providers and other partners, preparing the Council for the 
change:

 Establish working group to lead the preparation for the implementation of 
Universal Credit

 Identify initial action plan to support implementation of Universal Credit in 
County Durham

 Establish partnership with DWP in order to implement the Universal 
Support framework

May 2015
completed Head of Financial Services

Increase the understanding of the impact of Personal Independence Payment 
(PIP), building on the current work being undertaken by Welfare Rights and our 
Children and Adult Services (CAS).  January 2016 Head of Financial Services

Continue to work with housing providers and private landlords to respond to 
welfare reform and the impact of Universal Credit by helping tenants get the 
maximum support available, including Discretionary Housing Payments Ongoing Housing, Project & Service 

Improvement Manager 

Appropriate training programmes for frontline staff to be established to provide 
information on changes to welfare in order that staff can advise and support 
residents affected Ongoing Head of Policy & 

Communications 

Respond as 
appropriate to 
changes in the 
Welfare system 
and seek to 
understand and 
manage the impact 
on residents within 
County Durham

The council will continue to work collaboratively with other councils across the 
North East in responding to the changes and work with ANEC and the ILG to 
identify impacts and share best practice Ongoing Assistant Chief Executive 

Poverty Action Plan



Further welfare reform and benefit changes

Goal How will we do this (Actions) Timeframe Lead
The Welfare Assistance Scheme to be brought in-house with a new scheme 
implemented from 1 April 2015 April 2015

Completed Revenue & Benefits Manager

Expand the scope of support available through the scheme throughout 2015, 
ensuring the help provided to people is better integrated across the range of 
support services available within the Council

March 2016 Revenue & Benefits Manager

Develop a proposal for continuation of Welfare Assistance Scheme from April 
2016 building on the development work above December 2015 Revenue & Benefits Manager

Continue to 
provide support 
and assistance to 
residents affected 
by changes in 
welfare

Continue Welfare Right’s preventative work and ensure it is targeted at those 
most in need, using a priority system that delivers the required response Ongoing Revenue & Benefits Manager 

Residents 
understand the 
impact of the 
changes to welfare

The communication programme established for welfare reform will continue.  
Information already produced will be updated to reflect the ongoing changes, 
for example the implementation of Universal Credit Ongoing Head of Policy & 

Communications 

Poverty Action Plan
Work, increasing employability, personal wellbeing and sense of worth
Goal How will we do this (Actions) Timeframe Lead

Review the overall structure of employment-related training, skills, funding and 
employability provision in County Durham and revise to improve effectiveness TBC Economic Development 

Manager 

Review existing employability programmes and critically evaluate these to 
identify those that are successful and where gaps currently exist.  Identify 
opportunities to fill any gaps December 2015 Economic Development 

Manager 

Increase 
opportunities to 
support residents 
into work

Develop a robust and accurate ongoing monitoring programme to evaluate the 
effectiveness of the schemes and the value for money they provide, i.e. 
establishing unit costs within the scheme

December 2015 Economic Development 
Manager 



Poverty Action Plan
Work, increasing employability, personal wellbeing and sense of worth
Goal How will we do this (Actions) Timeframe Lead

Extend the ‘Mentoring and Brokerage Service’ which provides help with job-
hunts, CVs and applications from South Durham to other AAP areas December 2016 Economic Development 

Manager 

Continue using the planning framework to encourage businesses to employ 
local people through the Targeted Recruitment and Training Programme Ongoing Economic Development 

Manager 

Review how we promote local employment when new employers move into 
County Durham  December 2015 Head of Economic 

Development & Housing 

Carry out the County Durham Apprenticeship Action Plan.  Use it to provide 
comprehensive support to help young people progress into apprenticeships; 
provide career opportunities and ensure young people have the skills that local 
businesses need

TBC Economic Development 
Manager 

Seek to increase Apprenticeship provision delivered through the DCC Adult 
Learning and Skills Service

March 2016 Strategic Manager 
Progression and Learning

Implement the DCC Traineeship Programme for vulnerable young people 
(initial focus on Looked After Children) with identified progression pathways to 
Apprenticeship provision.  Following this undertake an evaluation to determine 
the schemes effectiveness

March 2016 Strategic Manager 
Progression and Learning

Increase 
opportunities to 
support young 
people into work

Implement the Youth Employment Initiative, ‘DurhamWorks’ which seeks to 
support 15-24 year old unemployed County Durham residents into 
employment, education or training through intensive and long-term support; 
innovative and engaging activities to develop motivation, work-related skills and 
work experience and increased employment opportunities

Ongoing until 
July 2018

Strategic Manager 
Progression and Learning

Increase the 
opportunities for 
training to improve 
skills

Review all current training programmes across the county and develop a plan 
to introduce further programmes to fill any gaps December 2015 Economic Development 

Manager 



Poverty Action Plan
Work, increasing employability, personal wellbeing and sense of worth
Goal How will we do this (Actions) Timeframe Lead

DCC Adult Learning and Skills Service to prioritise delivery of training 
programmes for the unemployed targeting: unemployed adults, especially 
those long term unemployed and those living in deprived areas; adults with low 
or no skills; learners with learning difficulties and disabilities and those with 
mental health issues; adults recovering from substance misuse; and those 
suffering from domestic violence

July 2016 Strategic Manager 
Progression and Learning 

Consider how volunteering can play a part in helping residents into long-term 
employment March 2016 Economic Development 

Manager



Children & Young People’s 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

2 December 2015

Young Carers in County Durham

Joint Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Assistant Chief Executive, 
and Rachael Shimmin, Corporate Director of Children & Adult 
Services

Purpose of the Report
1. The purpose of this report is to introduce a presentation to members of the 

Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee on Young 
Carers in County Durham.  The Presentation will be given by Gill Palin, 
Strategic Manager in Children and Adult Services.

Background

2. The number of children and young people with caring responsibilities for 
grandparents, parents, siblings or other adults within the family is unknown to 
a great extent.  In some cases a child or young person may be supporting a 
parent with caring responsibilities and therefore the young person is 
overlooked.

3. The Children’s Society report Hidden From View indicates that according to 
census data released in May 2013 there are 166,363 young carers in England 
and as many young carers remain hidden from official sight making the figure 
above the ‘tip of the iceberg.’ 

4. The report goes on to inform that one in twelve young carers is caring for 
more than 15 hours per week; and around one in twenty miss school because 
of caring responsibilities.

Detail

5. In County Durham the number of known young carers is 4201 according to 
census information released in 2013.  Most young carers, (3029) commit 0-19 
hours of unpaid care per week; 655 young carers provide 20-49 hours of 
unpaid care per week; 517 young carers provide 50 hours or more of unpaid 
care per week. 

6. The Children and Families Act 2014 gives young carers rights to ask for help 
and requires local authorities to carry out a Young Carers Needs Assessment 
as soon as they are aware of the young carer.  With agreement of both the 
young carer and the person being cared for the local authority can combine 
the assessment.



7. In carrying out the assessment the local authority must consider and decide if 
the young carer has support needs in delivering the care and if those needs 
are satisfied by local authority services.

8.The presentation will focus on the number of young carers known to the County 
Council and the help and support offered to them by the Authority.

Recommendations

9. Members of the Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee are requested to note the information contained in the 
presentation and provide comment accordingly.

Background Papers 
 None

Contact: Gill Palin, Strategic Manager Secure Services Development, Tel: 
03000 263010
Author: Ann Whitton, Overview and Scrutiny Officer, Tel: 03000 268143



Finance – None

Staffing - None

Risk - None

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – The Equality Act 2010 
prohibits less favourable treatment of individuals based on nine protected 
characteristics. Young carers are protected by this legislation, both by virtue of their 
age and their association with people with a disability. 

Accommodation - None

Crime and Disorder – None

Human Rights - None

Consultation – None

Procurement - None

Disability Issues – None

Legal Implications – None

Appendix 1:  Implications





Children & Young People’s 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

2 December 2015

Educational Attainment in County 
Durham

Joint Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Assistant Chief Executive, 
and Rachael Shimmin, Corporate Director of Children & Adult 
Services

Purpose of the Report

1. The purpose of this report is to introduce a presentation to members of the 
Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 
Educational Attainment in County Durham given to the committee by Phil 
Hodgson, Strategic Manager in Children and Adult Services.

Background

2. At its meeting on 25 June 2015, Children and Young People’s Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee agreed to add Educational Attainment to its work 
programme.  

3. Over the last few years children and young people in County Durham have 
done exceptionally well in their educational attainment and bucked the 
national trend in many cases. Durham County Council’s Education 
Department provides support and intervention, including intensive support for 
schools in most need, to ensure the best educational outcomes for children 
and young people in Durham.

Key Stage 2: 

4. At the end of the primary stage of education there are still formal, national 
assessments of pupils’ attainment in mathematics and English, through 
externally set and marked tests for all 11 year-olds. Writing is judged by 
teacher assessments, moderated by the local authority. Assessments are 
made against pre-set levels, with level 4 being the “expected level” for this 
age group.

5. The table below sets out the percentage of pupils in Durham and nationally 
that achieved level 4+ in English (reading), English (writing), mathematics 
combined at the expected level for this age group. This is the key reported 
outcome measure at KS2.



2014 Provisional 2015

Durham National Durham National

Level 4+ 79 79 82 80

Level 4B+ 67 67 71 69

Level 5+ 22 24 25 24

6. Attainment levels across the local authority continue to be strong against 
national levels and the significant trend of improvement in Durham continues 
year on year. 

Key Stage 4:

7. Assessment at Key Stage 4, which represents the end of compulsory 
schooling, continues to be through externally set and marked GCSE and 
GCSE equivalent examinations across a wide range of subjects and courses. 
These are graded from A*-G with national benchmarks of achievement. 
Annual results from examinations at each of Key Stages 4 and 5 (sixth form) 
are analysed in order to identify trends across the local authority and to inform 
discussions with specific schools regarding challenge and support.

8. The table below shows 2015 Key Stage 4 outcomes, although these remain 
invalidated until later in the year. 

2014 Provisional 2015

Durham National Durham National

% 5+ A*-C including Eng & Maths 57.6 56.6 54.6 56.1

% 3 levels progress - English 74 72 70 70

% 3 levels progress - Maths 60 66 61 67

% C+ English 72 69 68 68

% C+ Maths 67 68 67 68

9. As is clear from the headline figures, the overall percentage of children 
achieving 5 or more GCSEs at grades A* to C has fallen this year, highlighting 
issues with English in particular, although other key measures remain broadly 
in line with expectations. A number of secondary schools fared badly with 
entries to the iGCSE examination, a syllabus choice which has in the past 
served pupils well in terms of good results. An analysis of results has 
highlighted lower than expected marks on the Higher paper, Q1. Schools 



affected have robust plans in place for the current year 11 cohort, and the 
local authority will monitor these closely wherever possible. English GSCE 
outcomes in Durham, however, remain above NE averages.

10.Outcomes in maths improved at a slower rate than anticipated in 2015, 
although this rate was the same as that nationally.  Recent changes to the 
examination entry policy (now terminal examination rather than the inclusion 
of an element of coursework), are still having an impact in some schools. 
However, as with English, outcomes in Durham remain above NE averages.

11.The response of the Education Development Service has included the 
appointment of an outstanding head teacher to the new post of ‘Lead Adviser 
Secondary Standards’ within the local authority with the explicit brief to work 
with secondary head teachers of schools and academies and increase the 
level of support and challenge in this sector. This post holder will monitor 
action plans in relation to improving standards, particularly in maths and 
English, and take proactive steps where these are not meeting targets.

Academies - background

12.Academies are schools that are independent of direct accountability to local 
authorities.  They are funded and directly accountable to the Secretary of 
State for Education.  They have the ability to develop their own curriculum, 
change staff pay and conditions and school policies.  They are still subject to 
regular Ofsted inspection, statutory testing (GCSE) and providing a broad 
based curriculum.  Nationally there has been a significant increase in the 
number of academies and an expressed commitment by the government to 
convert many more schools to academies in future.

13. In County Durham there are 13 academy converter schools and two academy 
sponsor schools, 11 community schools, 3 Foundation schools and two 
voluntary aided schools.
     

14. In recent inspection reports Ofsted have criticised some converter academies 
for not promoting enough improvement and not being as effective as 
expected. National data does not yet provide a clear picture of whether 
academisation does broadly have a positive effect on results. However, a 
report by The Sutton Trust in July 2015, which looked at 34 multi-academy 
trusts (MATs), found that disadvantaged pupils at academies in 22 of them fell 
below the average for those in all maintained schools and academies. 
However, in 11 top-performing chains, disadvantaged pupils achieved above 
average results.

Academies – local context

15.Understanding that the Committee is especially interested to discover if the 
opening of converter academies had impacted on neighbouring schools in 

https://schoolleaders.thekeysupport.com/administration-and-management/recent-news-and-updates/in-the-news/in-the-news-july/news-20-24-july-2015/resolvelink?id=311395
https://schoolleaders.thekeysupport.com/administration-and-management/recent-news-and-updates/in-the-news/in-the-news-july/news-20-24-july-2015/resolvelink?id=311395


relation to roll numbers, academic performance and the number of exclusions, 
an attempt has been made with available County data to determine whether 
or not any of these factors have been affected.

16.There is no available statistical evidence regarding academies opening and 
having an impact on neighbouring schools, either nationally or locally. To look 
into this further would require quite an involved piece of work as the converter 
academies in Durham have different opening dates and are spread across all 
key stages and school types. Even if differences in school performance could 
be identified it would be unsafe to link the academic performance of a school 
to the opening of a nearby converter academy as there are so many other 
factors to consider. Also, the sample size may not be large enough to make 
any statistically valid conclusions. This is the informed view of the Information 
Management & Data Services team.

17.There has been no measurable impact on roll numbers as a result of schools 
converting to become academies. While academies continue to permanently 
exclude children, the pattern of this is not worse than for maintained schools.

18.With few exceptions, the academies in Durham continue to hold a close 
relationship to the local authority, with staff attending briefings and networks 
(at appropriate charge), and in many cases taking out service level 
agreements for school improvement support. That said, as academies are 
inspected by Ofsted and some are deemed to be in the category of ‘schools 
causing concern’, the local authority has no automatic role in providing 
support, as it has with maintained schools.

Presentation to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

19.The presentation will focus on the following areas: 
a. Key Stage 2 results
b. Key Stage 4 results
c. Key comparisons between Durham schools and academies in relation 

to exclusions and academic performance. 

Recommendations

20.Members of the Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee are requested to note the information contained in the 
presentation and provide comment accordingly.

Contact: Phil Hodgson, Strategic Manager
Ann Whitton, Overview and Scrutiny Officer, Tel: 03000 268143 
email: ann.whitton@durham.gov.uk

mailto:ann.whitton@durham.gov.uk


Finance – none

Staffing - none

Risk - none

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – n/a

Accommodation – n/a

Crime and Disorder – n/a

Human Rights – n/a

Consultation – n/a

Procurement – n/a

Disability Issues – n/a

Legal Implications – n/a

Appendix 1:  Implications




	Agenda
	4 Welfare Reform and Poverty Issues
	5 Young Carers
	6 Educational Attainment

